
 

 

Planning and Highways Committee 
 

Thursday, 17th December 2020 
6.30 pm 

Join Meeting Here 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
1.   Welcome and Apologies  

 
2.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting  

 Minutes of Previous Meeting 3 - 6 

 
3.   Declaration of Interest  

 Declaration of Interest Form 7 

 
Material Considerations  

 

8 - 9 

4.   Planning Applications for Determination  

 Committee Agenda 10 

 
4.1   Planning Application 20/0784  

 Cin Cin, 1A Church Bank Street, Darwen, BB3 3HA 11 - 24 

 
4.2   Planning Application 20/0828  

 3 Vincent Court, Blackburn, BB2 4LD 25 - 36 

 
5.   Planning Advisory Note - Approach for determining 

applications relating to properties being used as 
Children’s residential and supported accommodation. 

 

 Planning Advisory Note - Approach for determining 
applications relating to properties being used as 
Children’s residential and supported accommodation. 
BwD Childrens Care Homes PAN December 2020 

37 - 51 

 
6.   Enforcement - Land at 25 Percival street, Darwen, BB3 

1HB 
 

 Planning Enforcement - ENFORCEMENT – LAND AT 25 
PERCIVAL STREET, DARWEN. BB3 1HB 
Image 10.11.2020.jpg 
Location Plan.pdf 

52 - 55 

Public Document Pack

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_YTEwOGIwYzQtNmVlYi00NjI0LTg3YjktOGQxOTIxODRjYTY2%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%22dcfb3fe3-e9c9-423a-a1da-148a4b3a2e60%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22601424eb-abbb-4d04-ab38-25ff665975c7%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d


 

 

 
7.   Enforcement – Land at 216/218 Shear Brow, Blackburn  

 Planning ENFORCEMENT – LAND AT 216 – 218 SHEAR 
BROW BLACKBURN 
Location Plan 
Shear Brow.jpg 

56 - 61 

 
 

Date Published: Wednesday, 09 December 2020  
Denise Park, Chief Executive 

 



Planning and Highways Committee 
Thursday, 19th November, 2020 

PLANNING AND HIGHWAYS COMMITTEE 
Thursday, 19 November 2020 

 
 
PRESENT – Councillors, David Smith (Chair), Akhtar, Casey, Khan, Khonat, 
Hardman, Slater, Jan-Virmani, Oates, Riley, Browne, Harling and Marrow. 
 
OFFICERS – Gavin Prescott, Safina Alam, Michael Green, Paul Withington 
and Shannon Gardiner 
 

RESOLUTIONS 
 

27   Welcome and Apologies 
 
The Chair welcome everyone to the virtual meeting.  
 
There were no apologies received.  
 

28   Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 15th October 
2020 be confirmed and signed as a correct record. 
 

29   Declaration of Interest 
 
RESOLVED – There were no Declarations of Interest received. 
 

30   Planning Applications for Determination 
 
The Committee considered reports of the Director of Growth and Development 
detailing the planning application.  
 
In considering the applications, the Committee took into account 
representations or submissions provided by individuals with the Officers 
answering points raised during discussion thereon. 
 

30.1   Planning Application 19/1229 
 
Speaker – Mr R Maudsley (Agent) 
 
Applicant - PHG Contracting Limited 
 
Location and Proposed Development – HGV Garage to the rear of 
Perseverance Mill, Industry Street Darwen BB3 3DQ 
 
Full Planning Application for Change of Use from HGV yard and garage to 
PHG Contracting Yard with associated workshop/store building and offices 
(Use Class B2/B8). 
 
Decision under Town and Country Planning Acts and Regulations –  
 
RESOLVED – Approved subject to the conditions highlighted in the Director’s 
Report 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



Planning and Highways Committee 
Thursday, 19th November, 2020 

30.2   Planning Application 20/0415 
 
Speaker – (Cllr) John Slater  
 
Applicant – Mr G Bird  
 
Location and Proposed Development – 8 Church Street Darwen BB3 2RE 
 
Alterations to front elevations including change of window frames. Internal 
alterations to fit out pub/restaurant, new door opening to accommodate 
entrance to the rear. Alterations to rear yard to form outdoor decking/lighting 
and seating along with a bin storage area. 
 
Decision under Town and Country Planning Acts and Regulations –  
 
RESOLVED – Approved subject to the conditions highlighted in the Director’s 
Report 
 

30.3   Planning Application 20/0453 
 
Speaker – Mr Chris Weetman (Agent)  
 
Applicant – Mr Simeon Stuttard 
 
Location and Proposed Development – The Arches Cafe, 581-583 Preston 
Old Road Blackburn BB2 5HD 
 
Variation/Removal of Condition/Minor Material Amendment for Variation of 
Conditions pursuant to planning application 10/18/0417; no. 1 (Amend 
Approved Drawings) to seek retrospective permission for the raised decking 
and fencing to the front of the premises; No. 3 (Hours of Opening) to amend 
the opening hours so that the premises will not open to the public outside the 
following hours: Monday to Saturday 08:00 to 18:00 hours and on Sundays 
and Bank Holidays: 10:00-19:00 hours; and removal/ variation of condition no. 
6 restricting no more than 8 people at any one time to allow 12-16 seats (3-4 
tables) externally. 
 
Decision under Town and Country Planning Acts and Regulations –  
 
RESOLVED – That the Committee approved the split decision subject to the 
conditions highlighted in the Director’s report and the Update report on the 
following grounds: 
 
- Allow the variation of condition 1 relating to the approved plans to allow the 
  retention of the boundary fencing and raised decking; 
 

- Allow the proposed variation Condition No.3 relating to the opening hours 
  Monday to Saturday for a temporary two-year period; 
 

- Allow the variation proposed to the Sunday opening hours for a temporary 
  two-year period; 
 

- Add the following condition restricting the use of the outside seating area to 
  the existing opening times: 
 

  The outside seating area shall not be used outside the hours of Monday to 
  Saturday 08:00 - 16:00 and, Sundays and Bank Holidays 10:00 - 18:00. 

Page 4



Planning and Highways Committee 
Thursday, 19th November, 2020 

  

  REASON: To protect the amenities of the occupants of nearby residential 
  properties in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn with Darwen Local 
  Plan Part 2. 
 

- Refuse the removal of Condition 6. 
 

30.4   Planning Application 20/0459 
 
Speaker – Mr Joseph Parkins (Agent) 
       (Cllr) John Slater  
 
Applicant – Mr Dominic Holmes 
 
Location and Proposed Development – 1A Church Bank Street Vacant Land to 
NE (side) of Cin Cin Darwen BB3 3HA 
 
Change of Use of Vacant land to A4 use Classification including erection of 
pergola, shipping container and other associated alterations 
 
Decision under Town and Country Planning Acts and Regulations –  
 
RESOLVED – Approved subject to the conditions highlighted in the Director’s 
Report and the amended conditions in the Update Report.  
 
 

30.5   Planning Application 20/0464 
 
Applicant – Mr John Czutkwona 
 
Location and Proposed Development - Wayoh Barn Blackburn Road 
Edgworth Bolton BL7 0PZ 
 
Approval of Reserved Matters for appearance, landscaping, layout and scale 
for 5no. dwellings, pursuant to outline permission 10/18/0183. 
 
Decision under Town and Country Planning Acts and Regulations –  
 
RESOLVED – Approved subject to the conditions highlighted in the Director’s 
Report and Update Report 
 

31   Petition regarding Full Planning Application for the proposed erection 
of four number dwelling houses, made up of two semi-detached 
properties on vacant land off Accrington Road, Blackburn 
 
To inform Members of the receipt of the petition received relating to Full 
Planning Application for the proposed erection of four number dwelling 
houses, made up of two semi-detached properties on vacant land off 
Accrington Road, Blackburn. 
 
One petition containing 33 names and addresses objecting to the proposed 
development was received on 05th November 2020. The reasons against the 
proposal are as follows;  
 

 Highway safety concerns as a result of the increase the volumes of traffic                            
and increased parking requirements;  

Page 5



Planning and Highways Committee 
Thursday, 19th November, 2020 

 Loss of on-street parking for local residents;  

 The potential for disruptions during the construction phase; 

 Safety concerns may arise for children given losses of open space;  

 The thought of the proposal is causing worry for residents. 
 
Members were informed that the Planning Application had since been 
withdrawn.  
 
RESOLVED – That the petition be noted.  
 

32   Swan Farm Close - Claim Footpath Rights 
 
A report was submitted to Members for a decision on an application to add a 
Public Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement via a Definitive Map 
Modification Order (DMMO) at Swan Farm Close, Lower Darwen.  
 
The application route was not recorded on the Definitive Map (the legal record 
of Public Rights of Way) as a Public Footpath. In 2015, the Council received 
an application for a Definitive Map Modification Order to add the route of the 
footpath to the Definitive map and statement. The applicant believes that the 
route is incorrectly recorded on the Definitive Map and that it is historically a 
footpath. The applicant has submitted a quantity of historical documentary 
evidence along with a written submission. The application was further 
supported by a quantity of user evidence.  
 
The Council has a duty to process the application and determine whether or 
not sufficient evidence exists to ‘make’ a DMMO, or if the application should 
be refused. 
 
RESOLVED - To Promote the Definitive Map Modification Order (DMMO) at 
Swan Farm Close, Lower Darwen and support the application. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed: …………………………………………………. 
 
Date: ……………………………………………………. 

Chair of the meeting  
at which the minutes were confirmed 

 

Page 6



   

X:\Planning & Highways\2017\Misc\Declaration of Interest\Declaration of Interest Form.doc 

         
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN  

 
ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA 

 
 
Members attending a Council, Committee, Board or other 
meeting with a personal interest in a matter on the Agenda 
must disclose the existence and nature of the interest and, if 
it is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or an Other Interest 
under paragraph 16.1 of the Code of Conduct, should leave 
the meeting during discussion and voting on the item. 
 
Members declaring an interest(s) should complete this form 
and hand it to the Democratic Services Officer at the 
commencement of the meeting and declare such an interest 
at the appropriate point on the agenda. 

 
 

MEETING:       PLANNING AND HIGHWAYS COMMITTEE 
      
DATE:                
 
AGENDA ITEM NO.:   
 
DESCRIPTION (BRIEF): 
 
NATURE OF INTEREST: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY/OTHER (delete as appropriate) 
 
 
SIGNED :  

 
PRINT NAME:  

 
(Paragraphs 8 to 17 of the Code of Conduct for Members of the Council refer) 

 
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



 

Material Consideration 

 

“Material Considerations” are not limited to matters relating to amenity and can 
cover a range of considerations, in regard to public or private interests, provided that 
there is some relationship to the use and development of land. 

Where it is decided that a consideration is material to the determination of a planning 
application the courts have held that the assessment of weight is a matter for 
planning judgement by the planning authority, rather than the court. Materiality is a 
matter of law for the Court, weight is for the decision maker. Accordingly it is for the 
Committee to assess the weight to be attached to each material consideration, but if 
a Council does not take account of a material consideration or takes account of an 
immaterial consideration then the decision is vulnerable to challenge in the courts.  

By section 38(6) of the Planning & Compensation Act 2004 Act every planning 
decision must be taken in accordance with the development plan (taken as a whole) 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The policies and guidance 
contained in the hierarchy of planning documents are important material 
considerations and the starting point for the Committee in its assessment of 
development proposals and most decisions are usually taken in line with them. 

However, the Committee is legally obliged to consider all material matters in 
determining a planning application and this means that some decisions will not follow 
published policy or guidance. In other words, the Committee may occasionally depart 
from published policy when it considers this is outweighed by other factors and can 
be justified in the circumstances of the particular case. Similarly, in making a 
decision where there are competing priorities and policies the Committee must 
exercise its judgement in determining the balance of considerations 

 
The following provides a broad guide of what may and may not be material, though 
as with any broad guidance there will on occasions be exceptions 

 
 

MATERIAL: NOT MATERIAL: 

Policy (national, regional & local)  The identity of the applicant 
 

development plans in course of 
preparation 

Superceded development plans and 
withdrawn guidance 

Views of consultees Land ownership 

Design  Private Rights (e.g. access) 

Visual impact Restrictive covenants 

Privacy/overbearing/amenity impacts Property value 

Daylight/sunlight Competition (save where it promotes a 
vital and viable town centre) 

Noise, smell, pollution Loss of a private view 

Access/traffic /accessibility “moral issues” 

Health and safety   “Better” site or use” 

Ecology, landscape Change from previous scheme 

Fear of Crime  Enforcement issues 

Economic impact & general economic 
conditions   

The need for the development (in most 
circumstances) 

Planning history/related decisions 
 

 

Page 8



Cumulative impact 
 

 

Need (in some circumstances – e.g. green 
belt) 
 

 

Impacts upon and provision of open/amenity  
space 
 

 

existing use/permitted development rights/fall 
back 
 

 

retention of existing use/heritage issues  
fear of setting a precedent  
composite or related developments  
Off-site benefits which are related to or are 
connected with the development  

 

In exceptional circumstances the availability 
of alternative sites 

 

Human Rights Act 1998 & Equality   

 
Before deciding a planning application members need to carefully consider an application against the 
provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 
Protocol 1 of Article 1, and Article 8 confer(s) a right of respect for a person’s private and family life, 
their possessions, home, other land; and business assets.  
 
Article 6, the applicants (and those third parties, including local residents, who have made 
representations) have the right to a fair hearing and to this end the Committee must give full 
consideration to their representation, and comments,  
 
In taking account of all material considerations, including Council policy as set out in the Core 
Strategy and saved polices of the Unitary Development Plan, the Head of Planning and Transport  
has concluded that some rights conferred by these Articles on the applicant(s)/objector(s)/resident(s) 
and other occupiers and owners of nearby land that might be affected may be interfered with but that 
interference is  proportionate, in accordance with the law and justified by being in  the public interest 
and on the basis of the planning merits of the development proposal. Furthermore he believes that 
any restriction on these rights posed by the approval of an application is proportionate to the wider 
benefits of approval and that such a decision falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the 
Council under the Town and Country Planning Acts. 
 
Other duties have to be taken into account in determining planning applications for example the 
promotion of measures to reduce crime, the obligation not to act in a discriminatory manner and 
promote equality etc.  
 
NB:  Members should also be aware that each proposal is treated on its own merits! 
 
Reasons for Decision  
  
If members decide to go against officer recommendations then it is their responsibility to clearly set 
out their reasons for doing so, otherwise members should ask for the application to be deferred in 
order that a further report is presented setting out the background to the report, clarifying the reasons 
put forward in the debate for overriding the officer recommendation; the implications of the decision 
and the effect on policy;  what conditions or agreements may be needed; or just to seek further 
information. 
 
If Members move a motion contrary to the recommendations then members must give reasons before 
voting upon the motion. Alternatively members may seek to defer the application for a further report. 
However, if Members move a motion to follows the recommendation but the motion is lost. In these 
circumstances then members should be asked to state clearly their reasons for not following the 
recommendations or ask that a further report be presented to the next meeting   

Page 9



LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985
BACKGROUND PAPERS

There is a file for each planning application containing application forms, consultations, 
representations, Case Officer notes and other supporting information.
Gavin Prescott, Development Manager – Ext 5694.

General Reporting

REPORT NAME: Committee Agenda.

BwD Council - Development Control

Application No

Applicant Site Address Ward

Application Type

10/20/0784

Mr Dominic Holmes
Cin Cin
1A Church Bank Street
Darwen
BB3 3HA

Cin Cin
1A Church Bank Street
Darwen
BB3 3HA

Darwen East

Full Planning Application (Retrospective) for Regularisation of door and retractable canopy to side elevation
(retrospective)

RECOMMENDATION: Permits

10/20/0828

Doctor Imran Ali
29 Briony Avenue
Hale
WA15 8PY

3 Vincent Court
Blackburn
BB2 4LD

Blackburn South & Lower Darwen
Ewood

Full Planning Application for Erection of single storey extension to the side of the existing property to form supported living space. New 
detached outbuilding to the rear to form gym for service user use.

RECOMMENDATION: Permits

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF GROWTH & DEVELOPMENT

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION:  The extent of neighbour notification is shown on the location plans which 
accompany each report. Where neighbours are notified by individual letter, their properties are marked 
with a dot. Where a site notice has been posted, its position is shown with a cross.

PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION Date: 17/12/2020

 Printed by ADMMXI\Nadia_Saddique on 04/12/2020 13:34:49Execution Time: 2 minute(s), 9 second(s)

Page 1 of 1

Page 10

Agenda Item 4



REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR                          Plan No: 10/20/0784 
 

Proposed development: Full Planning Application (Retrospective) for 
Regularisation of door and retractable canopy to side elevation 
 
Site address: 
Cin Cin 
1A Church Bank Street 
Darwen 
BB3 3HA 
 
Applicant: Mr Dominic Holmes 
 
Ward: Darwen East               Councillors:   Jane Oates 
             Paul Browne 
                                                                        Roy Davies 
       

Shelters

157.9m

10

5

1a

16

4

20

22
 to

 2
4

P

V
IC

T
O

R
IA

 S
T

R
E

E
T

21 23

31

19

157.9m

6

5

 

2

CHURCH BANK STREET

CHURCH STREET

4

8 
to

 1
0

43

37

39

W
orks

47 to 51

Club

W
orks

1

B
A

T
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T

35

27 to 33

to 21

9
11 13

El Sub Sta

2

18

2 to 6

BRIDGE STREET

15

B
O

L
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

  

15

154.5m

FOUNDRY STREET

28

17

Car Park

3

21

14

1

8

13

5

19

1

15 to 17

Hotel

11

Millstone

8

5m

 

13

R
L
IA

M
E

N
T

 S
T

R
E

E
T

17

Page 11

Agenda Item 4.1



1.0 SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 
 
1.1 APPROVE – subject to the conditions detailed within section 4.1 of this 

report 
 
 
2.0 KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE 
 
2.1.1 This application is before the Committee due to the public interest in the case, 

including the receipt of 3 letters of objection, in accordance with the Chair 
Referral Process as part of the Scheme of Delegation. 

 
2.1.2 The retrospective development assimilates appropriately with the host 

building and would amount to less than substantial harm to the Darwen Town 
Centre conservation area within which the premises is positioned. The 
proposal is also consistent with economic and environmental objectives of 
sustaining viable town centres with regard to the protection and expansion of 
the leisure offer and development of an evening economy. 

 
2.1.3 Accordingly, the proposal is consistent with the Borough’s overarching growth 

strategy.  It is also satisfactory from a technical point of view, with all issues 
having been addressed through the application, or capable of being controlled 
or mitigated through planning conditions. 

  
3.0 RATIONALE 

 
3.1 Site and Surroundings 

 
3.1.1 The application site is located off Church Bank Street in the centre of the 

Darwen Town Centre Conservation Area, which was originally designated in 
1996 and extended in 2005.  The character of the area is principally made-up 
of commercial properties; primarily retail and leisure with shops, pubs, bars 
and restaurants. Towards the eastern end of Church Street is St. Peter’s 
Church and beyond that at the eastern and northern edge of the conservation 
area the character changes and becomes largely domestic with stone fronted 
terraced houses laid out in a recognisable grid pattern. 

 
3.1.2 1A Church Bank Street is a two-storey, stone constructed property dating from 

the late C19. The property is in use as a drinking establishment. The principle 
elevation fronts Church Bank Street and incorporates the main entrance and bi-
folding doors at ground level and a large window detail with patio doors and glass 
balustrade detail at first floor. The existing openings are framed in anthracite 
coloured, powder coated aluminium. The exposed side elevation is faced with 
coloured render and has three windows at first floor level and a door at ground 
floor level that provides access for staff to the rear of the bar. 

 
 
 
 
3.2      Proposed Development 

Page 12



 
3.2.1 Retrospective planning permission is sought for the erection of a retractable 

canopy and the insertion of a new glazed door to the side elevation. The door 
is constructed with anthracite powder coated frame to match the other 
openings within the building. 
 

 
 
3.3 Development Plan 

 
3.3.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

that applications be determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 

3.3.2 The Development Plan comprises the Core Strategy and adopted Local Plan 
Part 2 – Site Allocations and Development Management Policies. In 
determining the current proposal the following are considered to be the most 
relevant policies: 
 
 

3.3.3 Core Strategy 

Page 13



• CS1 – A Targeted Growth Strategy 
• CS16 – Form and Design of New Development 
• CS17 – Built and Cultural Heritage 

 
3.3.4 Local Plan Part 2 

• Policy 8 – Development and People 
• Policy 10 – Accessibility and Transport 
• Policy 11 – Design 
• Policy 39 – Heritage 
 

3.4 Other Material Planning Considerations 
 

3.4.1 National Planning Policy Framework (The Framework)- 2019  
• Section 2:  Achieving sustainable development 
• Section 6:  Building a strong, competitive economy  
• Section 7:  Ensuring the vitality of town centres 
• Section 12:  Achieving well-designed places 
• Section 16:  Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

 
3.4.2 Darwen Town Centre Conservation Area Appraisal 

 
3.5 Assessment 

 
3.5.1 In assessing this full application there are a number of important material 

considerations that need to be taken into account, as follows: 
 
• Principle of the development 
• Amenity impacts 
• Design impacts 
• Heritage impacts 
• Highway impacts 

 
3.5.2 Principle 

As a site located with the Inner Urban Area of Darwen and Darwen Town 
Centre, designated as a Primary Shopping Area, the proposal is consistent 
with the Policies CS1 and CS16 of the Development Plan which state that the 
urban area is the preferred location for new development.  
 

3.5.3 Policy 26 supports development involving main town centres uses within the 
town centres.  Restaurants and cafes are defined as such in the Development 
Plan Glossary, which is consistent with the definitions offered for such uses in 
The Framework.  Furthermore, Policy 26 supports protection and expansion of 
the leisure offer within town centres and development of an evening economy, 
including restaurants and cafes.  

3.5.4 Accordingly, given the proposals are intended to support the existing 
authorised commercial use of the building, the principle of the development is 
supported, in accordance with polices CS1, 1 and 26 of the Development 

Page 14



Plan.  It is also consistent with The Framework’s economic and environmental 
objectives of sustaining viable town centres.  

3.5.5 Amenity  
 Policy 8 requires a satisfactory level of amenity and safety is secured for 

surrounding uses and for occupants or users of the development itself; with 
reference to noise, vibration, odour, light, dust, other pollution or nuisance, 
privacy / overlooking, and the relationship between buildings. 

 
3.5.6 The proposal poses no undue concerns with reference to privacy / overlooking 

or relationship between buildings.   

3.5.7 The most significant element for Members to consider relates to the insertion of 
the new door opening within the side wall of the building and the potentially 
adverse impact of this upon the amenity of surrounding commercial and 
residential uses due to noise. 

3.5.8 Objections to the scheme are set out in full within section 9 of this report. They 
originate from both commercial and residential premises and principally raise 
concerns with noise/music emanating from the building due to the side door 
being left open. 

3.5.9  The Council’s Head of Public Protection has appraised the application and 
advised that the main consideration is the potential for noise emanating from 
the new door opening to conflict with the amenity of surrounding uses that 
include residential properties. It is advised that;  

 “The music noise level needs to be controlled to minimise loss of amenity at 
premises in the locality. The approved opening hours extend to 02:00 hours at 
the weekends when local residents can be expected to be sleeping. The Cin 
Cin is a small bar which restricts the practicability of noise control measures 
that would normally be considered, most notably sound proofed double doors 
at entrance/exit doorways to contain noise within the bar. I understand that the 
additional door, which is the subject of this application, has been installed to 
facilitate a one-way system within this small bar to assist with customer 
distancing essential for Covid secure business operation. I recommend that 
the music noise level in the bar is restricted to a background level to ensure 
that amenity is preserved in the locality.” 

 

3.5.10 Two planning conditions have been suggested by the Public Protection team 
in order to preserve the amenity of surrounding uses and to directly address 
concerns set out within the public objections; 

• The door must be kept closed except when in use to enter/exit the bar. 
It must be fitted with a suitable door closer device to ensure that it 
closes promptly after use. 

Page 15



• Music played at the ground floor bar shall be restricted to background 
levels and must not exceed 60dB LAeq (1minute).  

 

3.5.11 These matters have been raised with the applicant’s agent who has offered 
agreement to the introduction of a door closure mechanism, subject to the 
revised wording of the condition as set out within section 4.1 of this report. As 
such, that element is agreed. 

3.5.12 Conversely, the applicant has indicated that they are unwilling to accept the 
condition to limit background music volume within the bar as they believe that 
the condition is unreasonable and would not meet the test for planning 
conditions set out within the national planning practice guidance (NPPG). The 
justification for this position includes; 

• The extant planning permission for the bar (10/15/1552) does not 
include any condition to restrict noise emanating from the bar.  There 
are several existing regularised openings at the premises, which were 
clearly depicted on the plans for 10/15/1552; the approved plans 
included one door, two velux windows and two windows that would all 
be in closer proximity to residential dwellings than the door that is the 
subject of this retrospective application. The retrospective door would 
therefore not significantly affect noise. 

• Planning approval 10/15/1552 included zero conditions relating to noise 
mitigation, only to opening hours. I would emphasise that this 
application relates only to provision of a door, not to the use of the 
premises as a bar.   

• Paragraph 55 of the NPPF states “planning conditions should be kept 
to a minimum and only imposed where they...” meet the 6 tests, as set 
out in the NPPG. Paragraph 005 (reference ID 21a-005-20190723) of 
the NPPG states that “any condition that fails to meet one of the six 
tests should not be used.” 

 

3.5.13 Members are advised that the agent’s response has validity. Furthermore, 
given the acceptance of a door closure mechanism condition and the 
additional controls available through the Council’s licensing of the premises 
and statutory noise nuisance legislation it can be considered that adequate 
controls will be in place to safeguard amenity standards.  

3.5.14 Accordingly, subject to the suggested condition regarding door closure, as 
detailed in section 4.1 of this report, compliance with Policy 8 is achieved. 

 

3.5.15 Design / Heritage 
 Policy 11 requires a good standard of design that should enhance and 

reinforce the established character of the locality and demonstrate an 

Page 16



understanding of the wider context towards making a positive contribution to 
the local area.  Policy 39 requires development with the potential to affect 
designated or non-designated heritage assets to sustain or enhance the 
significance of the asset.  In this context, the proposal is supported by 
submission of a Heritage Statement. 

 
3.5.16 The principle statutory duty under the Planning (Listed Building and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990 is to preserve the special character of heritage 
assets, including their setting.  With reference to Conservation Areas, LPA’s 
should pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of that area and consider the impacts on character 
and appearance (which includes its setting) separately.  Development 
proposals need to satisfy both aspects (to preserve or enhance) to be 
acceptable.  

 
3.5.17 The Framework includes direction that LPA’s should take account of;  

• The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of 
heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their 
conservation; 

• The positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make 
to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and 

• The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to 
local character and distinctiveness. 
 

P.193 states that when considering the impact of proposals on the significance of 
a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's 
conservation. The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be 
applied. This is irrespective of whether any harm is identified as being 
substantial, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.   

P.196 identifies that where a proposal would lead to less than substantial harm to 
the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing 
its optimum viable use. 

3.5.18 Policy CS16: Form and Design of New Development requires new development 
to be of a high standard of design, and to respect and reinforce local character. 
Particular attention must be paid to all of the following: 

i. Character 
ii. Townscape 
iii. Public realm 
iv. Movement and legibility 
v. Sustainability 
vi. Diversity 
vii. Colour 
 

Development in prominent locations, in areas of major change and on transport 
gateways will be required to demonstrate particularly high standards of design. 

Page 17



3.5.19 The application is supported by a heritage statement.   The submission 
advises that;  

 
 “The proposed design has taken reference from the wider context and will 

make a positive contribution to the area. The character in the immediate 
vicinity of the application site has been somewhat compromised and the 
proposal will help to create a sense of identity for Church Bank street. The 
development is proportionate and respects local scale. The development is 
hence compliant with Policy 11 of the Local Plan. 

 
 The development improves the distinctiveness of the immediate vicinity whilst 
preserving the character of the Conservation Area (CA) and enhancing the 
locality. There will be no harm to any listed building or building that makes a 
positive contribution to the Conservation Area, thus the proposal accord with 
Policy 39.  

 
 The applicant has demonstrated an ambition to invest in creating a high 

quality environment to positively contribute to the locality and there are few 
other high end bars within Darwen Town Centre therefore the proposal would 
represent the optimum use of the site (NPPF 196). Any perceived harm to any 
heritage Assets could not be considered as ‘substantial’; therefore, even if 
Council officers were of the opinion that the proposal could cause harm to a 
heritage asset, the proposal should be considered in the context of policy 196 
of the NPPF.  

 
 The proposed development will “preserve and enhance the significance of the 

Conservation Area” and will make a positive contribution to local character 
and distinctiveness, hence according with 192(a & c) of the NPPF. The 
proposal comprises sustainable development and should be approved without 
delay (NPPF 38).” 

 
3.5.20 The submitted details have been reviewed by the Council’s Heritage and 

Conservation consultee, who offered the following comments:  
 

“The application is a retrospective application for the erection of a retractable 
canopy and the insertion of a new door to the side elevation that overlooks 
Bath Street, a street that is now primarily used as a service area for the 
adjoining businesses and runs parallel to a row of terraced houses along 
Victoria Street. This east-facing elevation of the property is fairly plain with few 
features and little historical interest.   

 
The application however fails to explain the reason for the changes. The 
heritage statement is rather limited and does not provide any assessment of 
how the proposal will affect the conservation area or if there is harm, how this 
will be mitigated. 

 
Although I have not seen the awning open, because of its location (on the side 
of the property) I do not feel the changes to the building, including the new 
doorway, necessarily affect the character or appearance of the building or the 

Page 18



wider CA. In this respect the significance of the Darwen Town Centre CA 
remains un-harmed.  

 
 I feel the proposal meets the statutory duty to preserve required by the 
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, and conforms to 
the planning guidance contained in Chapter 16 of the NPPF and the 
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council Core Strategy.” 

 
3.5.21 Accordingly, it is considered that the retrospective additions assimilate 

appropriately with the host building and less than substantial harm to the Darwen 
Town Centre conservation area has been identified. Compliance with local plan 
policies 11, 39 & CS16 and chapter 16 of the NPPF is therefore achieved. 

 
3.5.22 Highways: 

 Policy 10 of the Local Plan Part 2 deals with accessibility and transport 
issues. Amongst other considerations, development will be permitted by 
Policy 10 where it has been demonstrated that the safe, efficient and 
convenient movement of highway users is not compromised 

 
3.5.23 The new door opening fronts a section of back street that serves the rear of 

properties on Bridge Street. The awning is retractable, though when unfurled it 
will over-sail the back street at a height of circa 2.8m. 

 
3.5.24 The public objections, as set out at section 9.0 of this report, include issues 

relating to the blocking of the back street by bins, tables, chairs and privacy 
screen. Those concerns are noted, though Members are advised that given 
the objects are not fixed, then they do not amount to development and are not 
elements under consideration within this application. Rather they are issues 
for management by the local highway authority separate to any assessment 
here.   The following site photograph  shows the back street in question. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



 
 
3.5.25 The Council’s highway officer has offered no objection to the application  

subject to the new door opening inwards and the awning’s height not 
exceeding 2.1m above ground level in order to avoid any obstruction of 
movement of pedestrians or vehicles along the back street.  

 
3.5.26 Members are advised that the proposals are consistent with the requirements 

set out by the highway officer and on that basis compliance with Policy 10 of 
the Local Plan is achieved. 

 
3.5.27 Summary 

This report assesses the full range of material issues affecting this planning 
application to inform a balanced recommendation that demonstrates 
compliance with the Development Plan and The Framework. 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 20



4 RECOMMENDATION 
 
4.1 Approve, subject to a condition relating to the following matter: 

 
1. Within 2 months of the date of this approval a self-closing mechanism shall 

be installed to the new side door, as detailed on drawing CC4.20-X202, 
received 24th August 2020. The mechanism shall thereafter be retained 
REASON: To safeguard the amenity of surrounding uses and the area 
generally, in accordance with the requirements of Policy 8 of the Blackburn 
with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2 
 

2. Unless explicitly required by condition within this consent, the development 
hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the 
proposals as detailed on drawings:  
Plans and Elevations: CC4.20-X202, received 24th August 2020 
 
REASON:  For the avoidance of doubt and to clarify which plans are 
relevant to the consent. 

 
5 PLANNING HISTORY 

 
5.1  10/20/0459 – Full Planning Application: Change of Use of Vacant land to A4 

use Classification including erection of pergola, shipping container and other 
associated alterations (Approved November 2020) 

 
5.2  10/20/0608 – Certificate of Lawfulness: Temporary use of the land for outdoor 

drinking area (Approved August 2020) 
 
5.3  10/15/1152 – Full Planning Application: Change of use from Office (B1) and 

Residential (C3) to drinking establishment (A4) involving modifications to front 
facade and internal alterations (Approved March 2016) 

 
 

6 CONSULTATIONS 
 
6.1 Heritage & Conservation  

Subject to obtaining satisfactory details of the awning, I feel the proposal meets 
the statutory duty to preserve required by the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, and conforms to the planning guidance 
contained in Chapter 16 of the NPPF and the Blackburn with Darwen Borough 
Council Core Strategy.  

 
6.2 Public Protection 
 No objection subject to the following conditions: 

• Music played at the ground floor bar shall be restricted to background 
levels and must not exceed 60dB LAeq (1minute).  

• The door must be kept closed except when in use to enter/exit the bar. 
It must be fitted with a suitable door closer device to ensure that it 
closes promptly after use. 

Page 21



 
 
6.2 Environmental Services 

 No objection  
 
6.3 Public Consutlation 

 
In accordance with the provisions of the Procedure Order, 8 neighbouring 
premises have been consulted by letter, a site notice displayed and press notice 
issued. 3 letters of objection have been received and are set out within section 
9 of this report. 

 
6.4 Highways: 

No objection subject to confirmation that the new door opens inwards and the 
retractable awning has a height no lower than 2.1m above ground level 

 
7 CONTACT OFFICER:  Martin Kenny, Principal Planning Officer – 

Development Management. 
 

8 DATE PREPARED: 4th December 2020. 
 

9  SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Objection Mr & Mrs Arnold. Rec- 09/09/20 

 

Page 22



 
 
Objection – Lee Arnold. Rec – 15/09/20 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



Objection – Edwin Ainsworth Ltd Funeral Directors, Church Bank Street, Darwen. Rec-  
15/09/20 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 

Page 24



REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR                          Plan No: 10/20/0828 
 

Proposed development: Full Planning Application for Erection of single storey 
extension to the side of the existing property to form supported living space. 
New detached outbuilding to the rear to form gym for service user use. 
 
Site address: 
3 Vincent Court 
Blackburn 
BB2 4LD 
 
Applicant: Doctor Imran Ali 
 
Ward: Ewood 
 
         Councillor Maureen Bateson 
         Councillor Jim Casey 
 

 
 

11

15

16

D
ef

Def

ASHVILLE TERRACE

2

40
4

1 18

4

VINCENT STREET

Acorn Park

406

402

2

1

 

7

D
ef

105.5m

374

V
IN

C
E

N
T

 C
O

U
R

T

362

3888

B
O

LTO
N

 R
O

A
D

Boro Const & W
ard Bdy

19

16

2

15

s

 )

Page 25

Agenda Item 4.2



1.0 SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 
 
1.1 The proposed development is recommended to be granted planning 

permission for the reasons as stated in Paragraph 4.1. 
 
 
2.0 KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE 
 
2.1 This application is presented to the Committee in accordance with the 

Scheme of Delegation following the receipt of a petition signed by six 
residents. A summary of the comments is provided at Paragraph 6.1 below. 
The proposed development has been publicised through letters to residents of 
adjoining properties. No other letters of objection have been received.  

 
2.2 Planning permission was refused on 20th May 2020 for a single storey 

extension to each side of the existing property to form two separate self-
contained supported living spaces and a new detached outbuilding to the rear 
to form gym for service user use (10/20/0337). There were six reasons for 
refusal: 

• The proposed side extensions, by virtue of their design, layout and 
purpose, would result in the host dwelling no longer being in 
compliance with the criteria set out for Class C3 of the Use Classes 
Order 1987 (as amended) (i.e. the property would cater for more than 
the permitted maximum of 6 residents). 

• The proposed extensions and their use, by virtue of them not qualifying 
as permitted development, fail to demonstrate their role within the 
Council's strategic approach to commissioning new services and 
facilities. 

• The proposed development, by virtue of its scale and use, increases 
the intensity of use on the site and introduces into the setting a mode of 
living incongruous to the context in which it is set. 

• The proposed development, by virtue of the layout of fencing and 
gates, fails to demonstrate how it can meet its own servicing 
requirements in terms of bin storage. 

• The fencing proposed for the front curtilage of the south annex, by 
virtue of its design, height, materials and location, fails to understand 
the open front gardens characteristic of Vincent Court to the detriment 
of visual amenity. 

• The proposed development, by virtue of substandard-sized parking 
spaces and intrusion into the service strip, fails to adequately provide 
for parking within the curtilage. 

 
2.3 The key issues to be addressed in determining this application are: 

• How the reasons for refusal of planning application 10/20/0337 have 
been addressed   

• Materiality 
• Detached outbuilding 

 
 
 

Page 26



3.0 RATIONALE 
 
3.1 Site and Surroundings 
 
3.1.1 The site of the proposed development is located in in a cul-de-sac of modern 

detached dwellings to the east of Fernhurst Woods, and behind the A666 
opposite Ewood Park. 

 

  (Google maps) 
 
 
3.1.2 The dwelling is located within a row of detached dwellings, each being 

centrally located within their plot with garden curtilage to the sides as well as 
to the front and rear of the dwellings. 

 Application site: 
  

 (Google) 
 

Page 27



3.1.3 The application site is characterised by an open frontage, common to the 
properties on the west side of Vincent Court. There is a stretch of garden 
either side of the dwelling, with the rear garden being tiered. 

 

        
 

Case Officer site photos 
 
 
 
3.2 Proposed Development 
 
3.2.1 The proposed development is comprised of two components: the single storey 

side extension and the detached rear outbuilding to form a gym.  
 

  

  

Page 28



        
 
3.3 Development Plan 
 
3.3.1 Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2 – Site Allocations and 

Development Management Policies (December 2015) 
 
 Policy 8:  “Development & People” 

Policy 10:  “Accessibility & Transport” 
Policy 11:  “Design” 
Policy 47: “The Effect of Development on Public Services” 

 
 
3.3.2 Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document Revised Edition 

(September 2012) 
 
 RES E5: “Over Development” 

RES E8: “Single Storey Side Extensions” 
RES E19: “Extensions and Parking” 

 
 
3.4 Other Material Planning Considerations 
 
3.4.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (February 2019): 

Section 12: “Achieving Well-Designed Places” 
Section 8: “Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities” 

3.5 Assessment 
 
3.5.1 Use Class Considerations (addressing Refusal Reason 1) 
 
3.5.2 No. 3 Vincent Court has been identified in this and the two previous planning 

applications as the former dwelling house and its curtilage – the red edge 
being the same in both cases and encompassing the land up to its boundaries 
with Nos. 2 and 4 Vincent Court either side of the property, the highway to the 
front, and open land to the rear. 

 
3.5.3 On 17th October 2019, a Lawful Development Certificate was issued in 

respect of the former dwelling undergoing a change of use to C3(b): “Up to six 
people living together as a single household and receiving care e.g. supported 

Page 29



housing schemes such as those for people with learning disabilities or mental 
health problems” (10/19/0827).That proposal was specifically for 5 persons 
with mental health requirements living together as a single household and 
receiving care. The approval was based on: 

• Five people living together as a single household. 
• The service providing accommodation for residents who have formal 

diagnosis of Moderate to Severe Autism, Learning Disability or Mental 
Health Problems and who require personal and social care and 
support. Support staff will have been trained to manage the needs and 
complexities of the residents. 

• The service providing shared living, dining and kitchen area, ensuring 
that the residents will share at least one meal a day together. The care 
provided including 24hr staffing of day and night shifts with a mix of 
skills, support workers, activity and co-ordinators, as well as a senior 
management team who will be qualified in supporting and meeting the 
needs of the residents. Access will be available to a Psychologist and 
Occupational Therapist who have specialist knowledge of the service 
users and their needs. 

 
3.5.4 The refusal of application 10/20/0337 was based on introducing another two 

residents into the site through building a self-contained annex onto either side 
elevation, with no internal access between the annexes and the main house, 
and front and rear fencing that – in effect – introduced two separate curtilage 
areas associated specifically with each of the units. 

 
3.5.5 It was considered that the proposals materially affected the C3(b) planning 

unit. With the increase of the service provided to seven bed spaces, and with 
not all residents living together as a single family unit, there had been a 
material change to the planning unit not provided for under the Lawful 
Development Certificate previously issued. No. 3 Vincent Court would not 
therefore be able to operate as a C3 residential dwelling.  

 
3.5.6 This application is considered to have addressed the first reason for the 

refusal of 10/20/0337. One extension has been removed, and the remaining 
extension – whilst being able to provide some separate space – is linked to 
the main house and enables the occupant to integrate with the other 
residents. 

 
3.5.7 Crucially, whilst 10/20/0337 specified 5 persons living together as a family, 

since the development proposed now only provides for one additional person, 
the whole planning unit that is 3 Vincent Court can be considered to remain 
qualified to function as a C3(b) unit of no more than 6 persons living together 
as a single family entity. The proposed extension therefore does not nullify the 
Lawful Development Certificate issued under 10/19/0827. 

 
 
3.5.8 The Purpose of the Extension (addressing Refusal Reason 2) 
 

Page 30



3.5.9 The NPPF requires planning decisions to take into account and support the 
delivery of local strategies to improve health, social and cultural well-being for 
all sections of the community (Paragraph 92b). 

 
3.5.10 The removal by this application of health and social care provision beyond 

that allowed under permitted development removes the requirement for the 
applicant to provide a statement as to the relevance of the proposals to the 
provision of mental health facilities within Blackburn with Darwen. One 
additional person in an ancillary unit enables No. 3 Vincent Court to retain its 
function as C3(b) use. 

 
3.5.11 Development is required by the Local Plan 2 to understand the wider context 

(Policy 11 Local Plan 2) which includes contributing positively to the overall 
character of the area (Policy 8). The proposal achieves this. The continued 
living together as a family in the main house and the accessibility of the 
occupant of the ancillary unit to this life together accords with the residential 
context of the area. The second reason for refusal is considered to be 
adequately addressed. 

 
 
3.5.12 Side Extension – Design and Layout Considerations (addressing Refusal 

Reasons 3-6) 
 
3.5.13 The proposed design of the side extension is considered to meet the 

Council’s Residential Design Guide (RES E8 and E5) and Local Plan 2 
Policies 11 and 10. 

• The extension in terms of scale, height (3.0 metres to the eaves, 5.3 
metres to the ridge) and massing is considered to be subordinate to the 
original dwelling. 

• The roof is dual pitch and materials for both roof and walls are 
considered to complement the original materials. 

• Access to the rear of the property is maintained. The removal of the 
fencing from around the extension ensures a route is provided for bins 
to be moved from the front to the rear of the property. 

• In addition, the removal of a secure curtilage area in front of the annex 
is considered to demonstrate an understanding of the context of the 
development. The visual amenity of the setting is therefore secured. 

• The proposed parking is considered to meet the Council’s adopted 
parking standards. The removal of the extension from the north gable 
elevation facilitates the continuation of existing parking arrangements. 

 
3.5.14 It is therefore considered that the design and layout modifications made in this 

application have addressed reasons 3 to 6 of the refusal of 10/20/0337. 
 
 
3.5.15 Materiality Considerations 
 
3.5.16 The use of the host dwelling as a C3(b) dwelling has been previously 

established through the issuing of a Certificate of Lawful Development. A 
Certificate of Lawfulness is a specific type of application made under the 

Page 31



Town and Country Planning Act 1990. It essentially asks for a formal 
determination from the Council as to whether or not a use can proceed 
without the need for planning permission. The use of No. 3 Vincent Court 
specifically for 5 persons with mental health requirements living together as a 
single household and receiving care is therefore an approved use. Use Class 
C3(b) permits up to 6 to be resident. 

 
3.5.17 A Certificate of Lawfulness is determined on legal grounds rather than 

planning merits. As such, the Council’s constitution does not make any 
provision for such applications to be determined either under the Scheme of 
Delegation or brought before the Council’s Planning Committee for 
determination. 

 
3.5.18 As uses established through a Certificate of Lawfulness are not subject to 

Council control in terms of occupancy, bed spaces provided become available 
to remote authorities. The key implication in all this is that people with 
complex needs are brought into the borough placing additional strain on 
already pressurised local public services. 

 
3.5.19 Officers from the Council’s planning department have been working with 

colleagues in adult (and children’s) services to better understand the nature of 
care homes and the issues that exist within the sector. As a result, and whilst 
every application must be determined on its own merits, the Council is now of 
the opinion that even within Use Class C3, a change from being a family 
dwelling-house to being a house for a small group of people living together as 
a single family can be accompanied by a material change in the property. The 
inclusion of a sensory room and a clinic room would suggest a material 
change, in that these provisions would normally be found in a normal C3 
dwelling-house and might indicate that a change of use from C3 to C2 had 
been undertaken. 

 
3.5.20 The assessment of this application is not seeking to review the decision to 

grant a Certificate of Lawful Development under 10/19/0827. However, Policy 
47 requires development that would provide accommodation for users of 
publicly-provided services, including mental health services, to work within the 
Council’s commissioning strategies to ensure that the service delivered is 
required by the Borough and that it does not lead to an increase in the level of 
demand upon the Council’s limited resources. The full planning application for 
the extension to No. 3 Vincent Court provides an opportunity to ensure that 
Policy 47 is adhered to through ensuring the facility is available to those 
ordinarily resident within the Borough. 

 
3.5.21 It is therefore recommended that a condition be attached to this proposed 

planning approval requiring the approved facilities at Vincent Court being 
geared towards their use by people either within the Borough or being 
supported by the Borough but living elsewhere on account of facilities not 
currently being available to them within Blackburn with Darwen. 

 
 
3.5.22 Detached Outbuilding 

Page 32



 
3.5.23 The proposed detached outbuilding is set to the rear of the property. Its scale 

at a height of 2.5 metres and a footprint of 5.3 metres x 4.3 metres is 
acceptable. The timber material is not considered brilliant; but given that other 
properties have timber fences separating the front from the back curtilage, the 
material is consistent with uses elsewhere in the context. Moreover, if the 
property were to remain in C3 usage, it is likely that the outbuilding would be 
permitted development. As it is, the outbuilding is considered to be in 
accordance with Policy 11 of the Local Plan 2.  

 
 
4.0 RECOMMENDATION 

 
4.1 It is recommended that the Planning and Highways Committee approve the 

application subject to conditions which relate to the following matters: 
• Development to commence within 3 years 
• Development is conditional upon the facilities being available to 

residents from within the Borough 
• Materials to match those used in the original dwelling 

 
 
5.0 PLANNING HISTORY 
 
5.1 10/20/0337 - a single storey extension to each side of the existing property to 

form two separate self-contained supported living spaces and a new detached 
outbuilding to the rear to form gym for service user use. Refused under 
delegated powers 20/05/2020. 

 
5.2 10/19/00827 – Change of use to C3(b) specifically for 5 persons with mental 

health requirements living together as a single household and receiving care 
(Lawful Development Certificate – proposed). Granted under delegated 
powers 17th October 2019. 

 
5.3 10/09/0965 – Single storey side and rear extensions. Balcony over side 

extension. Alterations to front porch and new boundary wall. Approved under 
delegated powers 23rd October 2009. 

 
 
6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 
6.1 Two neighbouring properties were consulted. One petition was received 

containing six signatures. Comments can be summarised as follows: 
• Parking restrictions only enforced on football match days at Ewood 

Park with problems of access and manoeuvring. 
• The business at 3 Vincent Court will have repercussions on parking 

issues and traffic. 
• Bin collection issues. 

There is some uncertainty as to whether the petition is against the proposed 
development or against the traffic problems experienced by Vincent Court 

Page 33



residents, since the applicant’s name and address also appears on the 
petition.  The full petition is contained in Section 9. 

 
6.2 Housing Standards.  

• There is no information on kitchen provisions (cooker/ refrigerator / 
cupboard space) within the kitchen area of each self-contained unit 
other than a sink and drainer unit shown on the plans.  

• The kitchen area appears to be small and does not have any proposed 
mechanical ventilation provision.  

• There are no refuse bins or bin stores indicated to be provided as part 
of the plans.  

• All works carried out will require full building regulation approval and 
advice should be sought from Pennine Lancashire Building Control or a 
appointed inspector along with Lancashire Fire and Rescue in relation 
to fire safety requirements. 

 
6.3 Adult Social Services. 

• Unhappy with the proposal but would be supportive of the condition (to 
ensure facilities are available to residents of the Borough). But would 
the condition be enforceable. 

 
 
 
7.0 CONTACT OFFICER:  John Wilson, Planner Tel: 01254 585585 
 
 
8.0 DATE PREPARED: 25th November 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



9.0 SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Objection – Vincent Court Residents. Rec – 28/09/20 
 

 

 

 

Page 35



 

 
 
 

 

Page 36



DEPARTMENT OF GROWTH & DEVELOPMENT 
ORIGINATING SECTION: PLANNING SERVICE (DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT) 
 
REPORT TO: Planning & Highways Committee 
 
DATE:    17th December 2020 
 
TITLE: Planning Advisory Note - Approach for 

determining applications relating to properties 
being used as Children’s residential and 
supported accommodation. 

 
 
WARDS: All  COUNCILLORS:  All 
______________________________________________________________ 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To set out the intended approach for the determination of planning 

applications relating to the proposed change of use of properties as 
residential children’s homes. 

 
1.2 To explain the reasoning behind the intended approach and invite the  

comments of the committee.  
 

 

2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Members will be aware that there have been an increasing number of 

Certificate of Lawfulness applications to use properties as residential 
children’s homes.  Where a certificate is granted, the Council has no 
control over the occupancy of that home.   As a result, many such 
homes have the potential of being used to accommodate children from 
outside of the Blackburn With Darwen area.   This is placing a strain on 
local public sector resources to the detriment of local service delivery, 
and can make it more difficult for the Council to accommodate local, 
looked-after children within Blackburn With Darwen. 

 
2.2 The majority of the Certificate of Lawfulness applications received all 

relate to residential properties falling within Use Class C3 
“Dwellinghouses” of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes 
Order) 1987 (as amended).  Case law has established that a 
residential children’s home falls within Class C2 “Residential 
Institutions” of the same Order.   Section 55 of the 1990 Town and 
Country Planning Act, states that a material change of use constitutes 
development.   There is no provision in the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) to permit 
a change from C3 to C2.  

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 5



2.3 The Development Management Team have recently dealt with 
Certificate of Lawfulness applications at properties on Eden Park, 
Vincent Court and Aintree Drive in the borough.  Until recently, officers 
have judged that the change of use from a house to a children’s home 
is not material, which in nature does not constitute development, and 
therefore does not require planning permission.  However, in recent 
months new information has come to light, with the approach being 
taken by Blackpool Borough Council, in the form of case law, and the 
advice they received from Counsel.  In addition, the Development 
Management Team has been working closely with Children’s Services 
to better understand the nature of a children’s home use.  

 
2.4. It is now considered that the change of use from a house to a children’s 

home is material and is therefore development requiring planning 
permission for the following reasons: 

 
o Change in the character of the use based on the day-to-day 

activity, operations and physical layout; 
o Impact of the proposal – the uncontrolled loss of family homes is 

a material planning consideration; case law has established that 
increased strain on local public sector resources can be 
accepted as an indicator of a material change of use; 

 
2.5 It is accepted that not all looked-after children will place strains on the 

Council’s services, however because the Council cannot place any 
controls on a Certificate of Lawfulness, these factors must all be taken 
into account when assessing such applications. 

 
2.6. The Development Management Team following consultation with 

Children’s Services have produced a Planning Advisory Note, which is 
intended to inform and assist applicants seeking planning permission 
for the development of or the change of use of an existing building to a 
children’s care home.   A draft copy of the Note is attached to this 
report. 

 
3.  RATIONALE 
 

3.1 The Council’s aim is to ensure that good quality accommodation is 
available in appropriate premises and locations within the borough to 
meet the needs of looked-after children within the care of the Council.  
At the same time, it is imperative that there is no undue harmful impact 
towards the character and amenities of local neighbourhoods. 

 
3.2 Policy 47 “The Effect of Development on Public Services” of the 

adopted Blackburn With Darwen Borough Local Plan (Site Allocations 
and Development Management Policies) (December 2015), sets out 
how the local planning authority will manage development in line with 
the following objectives: 

 

Page 38



o To ensure that planning decisions as far as possible support the 
commissioning strategy for facilities and services; 

o To assist in managing demand for support services so as to 
ensure that appropriate levels of service to existing users within 
Blackburn With Darwen can be maintained; and 

o To assist in improving Blackburn With Darwen’s overall offer, 
and perceptions of its offer, by reducing levels of crime, anti-
social behaviour and the perceived threat of these. 

 
3.3 The Planning Advisory Note whilst not being a formal Supplementary 

Planning Document, is still a material planning consideration linked 
with Policy 47.  The Note will provide clarification and information on 
the Council’s approach to dealing with planning applications for 
children’s care homes. 

 
4.    KEY ISSUES 
 
4.1 The fundamental issues that the Note is focussed on with regards to 

new children’s care homes are: 
 

o Ensure that new homes are established in appropriate premises 
and in suitable locations; 

o Establish a priority for local children to ensure that the Council 
can meet the needs of the local community within the local area; 

o Reduce the concentration of specialist uses within any particular 
area of the borough; 

o Safeguard the children in care and at same time ensuring the 
amenities of local communities are not affected by ensuring 
premises adhere to the provisions of a robust Management 
Plan. 

 
 4.2 The Note focusses on the main planning considerations and process 

with regards to new children’s care homes.  These are set out as 
follows: 

 
o What are the material planning considerations? 
o Relevant planning policy, guidance and information 
o Specific advice – what properties are considered appropriate; 

car parking; how to demonstrate local need; what to include in 
the Management Plan; what changes can you expect to make to 
the property; mechanism to meet local need e.g. Section 106 
Agreements; 

o Details of the pre-application advisory service. 
 
 
5.   POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1   The Planning Advisory Notice is an informal planning document linked 

to Policy 47 of the Local Plan Part 2. 
 

Page 39



6.   FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1     None. 
 
7.  LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1     None. 
 

8.  RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1      None. 
 
 

9.  EQUALITY  IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1 None.  
 

10. CONSULTATIONS 
  
10.1 The Draft Advice Note has been presented to the Executive Members for 
         Growth & Development and Children’s Services.  
 
11.      RECOMMENDATION 

 
11.1 (i) That the Committee note the issues described in the report. 
      

(ii) That the Committee endorse and approve the proposed Planning 
Advisory Note, to be used as a material planning consideration in the 
determination of any new applications for children’s care homes, and 
the Note to be published on the relevant planning and Children/Young 
people web pages.  
 

Contact Officer:   Gavin Prescott, Planning Manager 
(Development Management) 

Date:     3rd December 2020 
Background Papers:   None 
 

Page 40



 

1 | P a g e  
 

 Blackburn with Darwen  

Children’s Residential and 

Supported Accomodation- 

Planning Advice Note 

 
 

December 2020 

Page 41



 

2 | P a g e  
 

Contents 
 
Purpose of the advice note…………………………………………………………………3….. 
 
Aims and Objectives…………………………………………………………………………3…. 
 
Children’s care in Blackburn With Darwen – a planning perspective…………………  3… 
 
Relevant planning policy, guidance and information……………………………………  4… 
 
Specific advice………………………………………………………………………………  7…… 
 
Further information…………………………………………………………………………11… 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



 

3 | P a g e  
 

 

This advice note is intended to inform and assist applicants seeking planning 
permission for the development of or change of use of an existing building to a 
children’s residential and supported accommodation. 
 

The advice note is intended to offer clarification and information and so will not be 
taken through a formal consultation process.  Nevertheless, it will be a material 
planning consideration in the assessment of planning applications. 
 

 

The Council’s aim is to ensure that good quality accommodation is available in 
appropriate premises and locations within the borough to meet the needs of looked-
after children within the care of Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council, without 
causing undue harm to the character and amenities of local neighbourhoods. 
 
In light of the specific issues in Blackburn with Darwen as set out above, the Council 
has identified the following principal objectives: 
 

 Ensure that new children’s homes are established in appropriate premises 
and in suitable locations; 

 Establish a priority for local children to ensure that the Council can meet the 
needs of the existing community within the local area; 

 Prevent an undue concentration of specialist uses in any particular area of the 
borough in order to safeguard the local character and amenity; 

 Safeguard the children in care and the interests of local communities by 
requiring premises to be operated in accordance with a robust Management 
Plan. 

 

 
Within the past 3 years, there has been an increasing number of Certificate of 
Lawfulness for the proposed use of dwelling houses as children’s residential and 
supported accommodation -for children and young people being submitted to 
Blackburn With  Darwen Borough Council.  The availability of relatively large 
properties within the borough at reasonable prices are understood to be a key driver 
behind this trend.  
 
As uses established through a Certificate of Lawfulness are not subject to Council 
controls in terms of occupancy, so these children’s residential and supported 
accommodation could elect to accommodate children and young people placed by 
other authorities.   This has two key implications: 
 

Page 43



 

4 | P a g e  
 

 Vulnerable children with complex needs are brought into the borough placing 
additional strain on already pressurised local public services; and 

 Blackburn With Darwen Borough Council needs to manage its local 
accommodation to meet the needs within the borough. 

 
A Certificate of Lawfulness for a Proposed Use is granted when the Council judges 
that the proposed use is not materially different in planning terms from the existing 
lawful use of a building. Many factors must be taken into account when considering 
materiality.  
 
Officers from the Council’s Planning (Development Management) Service have 
worked closely with colleagues in Public Protection, Public Health and Children’s 
Services to better understand the nature of children’s residential and supported 
accommodation and the issues that exist within the sector. 
 
As a result of these discussions, notwithstanding the fact that every application must 
be determined on its own merits, the Council is now of the opinion that a change of 
use from a dwelling house to a children’s residential or supported accommodation 
will generally be material for the following reasons: 

 Change in the character of the use as a result of increased day-to-day activity; 

 Change in the character of the use as a result of the necessary form of 
operation of the premises; 

 Change if the character of the use as a result of typical physical alterations to 
the property; 

 Impact of the proposal in terms of the loss of family dwellings; 

 Impact of the proposal on local public service delivery; 

 Impact of the proposal on the Council’s ability to meet its own housing needs 
for looked-after children. 

 
By requiring operators to apply for planning permission for the creation of children’s 
residential and supported accommodation, the Council is able to ensure that such 
provision is established in appropriate properties in suitable locations.  It also gives 
the Council the ability to ensure that children’s home provision in the Blackburn With 
Darwen area gives priority to local children, enabling the Council to meet our own 
needs in our own borough. 
 

 

 

Paragraphs 59, 60 and 61 relate to the delivery of a sufficient supply of homes. 
 
Paragraph 59 makes it clear that in order to support the Government’s objective of 
significantly boosting the supply of homes…..the needs of groups with specific 
housing requirements are addressed. 
 
Paragraph 60 explains how housing need in an area should be assessed and 

Page 44



 

5 | P a g e  
 

understood, and paragraph 61 advocates planning policies that reflect the needs of 
particular groups in the community. 
 

 
This document sets out the spatial strategy for Blackburn With Darwen setting out 
the priorities for the future planning and development of the borough, in terms of how 
much and what types of development there should be, where it should be focused, 
when it is likely to take place, and how it will be delivered.   A number of strategic 
objectives are identified, and notwithstanding the fact there are no specific policies 
relating to children’s residential and supported accommodation provision in the 
Strategy, the vision for Blackburn With Darwen includes the aim to promote the 
development of mixed communities, together with increasing the levels of demand 
both for existing housing stock and for new development in inner urban areas.  
 
With this vision in mind, the Core Strategy sets out a number of objectives, including 
the need to create sustainable neighbourhoods, increasing the local environmental 
quality, whilst at the same time increasing the number of houses with access to local 
jobs and services.  Policy CS9 “Existing Housing Stock” is fundamental towards this 
objective, aiming to support strong communities by ensuring the overall stock of 
existing and new housing will provide a balanced quantity and mix to meet the needs 
of existing resident, and attract new residents to the borough. 
 
Retention and repair of traditional housing will form part of the approach to 
transforming neighbourhoods, whilst focusing regeneration and improvement in a 
number of neighbourhoods.  Policy CS20 “Cleaner, Safer, Greener”, is also relevant 
in general terms, as it focusses on a better quality of life for existing and future 
residents by prioritising community cohesion, improving the economic performance 
of neighbourhoods, supporting a more cleaner, healthy and safer environment, which 
will improve the quality of life for all the local communities.  
 

 
Policy 47 relates managing development in line with the following objectives: 
 

 To ensure that planning decisions as far as possible support the 
commissioning strategy for facilities and services; 

 To assist in managing demand for support services so as to ensure that 
appropriate levels of service to existing users within Blackburn With Darwen 
can be maintained; and 

 To assist in improving Blackburn With Darwen’s overall offer, and perceptions 
of its offer, by reducing levels crime, anti-social behaviour and the perceived 
threat of these. 

 

Page 45



 

6 | P a g e  
 

 

 
The Council and its partners are keen to focus on meeting local needs in the first 
instance, and to ensure that the proportion of their overall resources that need to be 
directed towards providing support service is kept under control. 
 

 
Further guidance on planning policies and proposals that expand upon or provide 
further detail to higher-level policy documents such as the core strategy and the 
saved local plan.  The development of specialist need children’s residential and 
supported accommodation including children’s will be in appropriate premises and 
locations subject to: 
 

 The proposal should be located within a Primary Residential Area or other 
appropriate locality offering an acceptable level of residential amenity; 

 The design of any building, extension of alterations will be expected to be 
in character with and complement existing neighbouring development 
and/or the existing building; 

 The property should be large enough to provide the facilities required by 

Page 46



 

7 | P a g e  
 

the registration authorities (cooking facilities, bathrooms, dining and 
communal facilities) without the need for any substantial extensions which 
would have a detrimental effect on the area, the amenity or neighbouring 
properties or the character of the property or locality; 

 The conversion of a terraced house or one of a pair of semi-detached 
houses or a detached property closely abutting or linked to its neighbours 
will be considered unsuitable; 

 The premises should be located near to , or enjoy safe and convenient 
access to facilities such as shops and public transport; 
There should be adequate, convenient and accessible parking space within 
the curtilage to comply with the Council’s adopted parking standards 
without adverse effect on neighbouring properties or the character of the 
locality; 

 The property must have open garden areas (or areas capable of conversion 
to garden or open space use) which are suitable and sufficiently attractive 
for use by residents. 

 

 
Blackburn With Darwen Borough Council is reviewing their current adopted local 
plans, specifically, the Core Strategy (adopted 2011) and the Site Allocations and 
Development Management policies (adopted 2015). The Local Plan review will lead 
to a new local plan to replace the existing adopted plans, and will cover the period 
2018 to 2037. 
 
A draft Local Plan is scheduled to be consulted on under Regulation 18 in January 
2021 with further subsequent consultation on the plan at Publication stage 
(Regulation 19) with a view to submitting the plan for examination in January 2022. 
 

 

 
In general, the following types of property are considered to be appropriate as 
follows: 
 

 Terraced properties – are generally only suitable for accommodating one 
child; 

 Semi-detached properties – are typically only suitable for accommodating up 
to two children; 

 Detached properties – can be used to accommodate one or two children but 
become necessary for proposals seeking to accommodate three children or 
more, subject to the material planning considerations. 

Page 47



 

8 | P a g e  
 

 
It is recognised that children’s residential and supported accommodation require 
more car parking than dwelling houses of a comparable size. This is because of the 
number of staff members who are likely to be working at the property at any one 
time, but also because of the potential for visits from other professional support 
workers.  
 
On this basis, proposals for children’s residential and supported accommodation will 
only be supported where adequate car parking provision is available to meet the 
needs of the use. On-street parking provision will be taken into consideration where 
it is available and not subject to excessive pressure.  
 
When considering parking availability, due regard will be given to the care ratio, the 
needs of the children accommodated, the operational model of the home, the nature 
of the surrounding area and the presence of any parking restrictions on-street.  In 
essence, each proposal will be considered on its own particular merits. 
 

 
The Council’s Children’s Services Team is consulted on all planning applications for 
children’s residential and supported accommodation.  The team monitors demand 
and provision on a regular basis and so is able to advice on levels of local need.  
Before applying for planning permission for a children’s residential and supported 
accommodation, applicants are strongly advised to consult the Council’s Children’s 
Commissioning Team: commissioining.team@blackburn.gov.uk for further 
information with regard to need.  
 

 
A Management Plan must be submitted with all applications for planning permission 
for a children’s residential and supported accommodation use. 
 
The following questions can be used as a guide to help prepare your management 
plan: 
 

 How many children would be accommodated? 

 What is the ratio of staff to children that is required, i.e. delivery model? 

 What is the likely level of need of the children accommodated, i.e. is there a 
focus on complex needs? 

 What is the likely shift pattern of staff, i.e. how many staff (management and 
care staff) would likely be at the premises at any one time and when would 
shift changes occur? 

 What support officers would be likely to visit the property? 

Page 48

mailto:commissioining.team@blackburn.gov.uk


 

9 | P a g e  
 

 How would visits be scheduled and would staff/support-worker meetings take 
place at the property? 

 If residents are unable to participate in full-time, mainstream education, what 
educational support would be offered on-site? 

 Would therapeutic care be offered on site? 

 Would case reviews take place on or off-site? 

 Are friends and relatives of residents able to visit at any one time? 

 Will the property be OFSTED registered? 

 Will the property be CQC registered? 

 Will the property be registered on the relevant Council’s Commissioning 
Framework? 

 Are children ever left alone at the property? 

 Under what circumstances are children allowed to leave the property? 

 Would staff members be informed/aware if a child left the property? 

 Is there a curfew? 

 What would happen in the event of a breach of the curfew? 

 What security provisions are proposed e.g. security and access controls on 
doors? 

 Would CCTV be installed? 

 How would local residents know how to raise a concern in the event of an 
issue? 

 How will the service work with other professional and voluntary services in 
Blackburn With Darwen? 

 

 
It is recognised that many children who require accommodation in a children’s 
residential and supported accommodation may have suffered trauma or neglect of 
some kind.  This can result in behavioural problems.  Whilst such children 
undoubtedly deserve to live in a pleasant, caring and supporting residential 
environment, it is also important that the amenities of neighbours are appropriately 
protected.  As such, the following measures may be required: 
 

 Installation of sound-proofing to protect party walls; 

 Prevent children from having access to balconies and any flat-roof areas; 

 Provision of appropriate boundary treatments to garden areas; 

 Installation of CCTV 
 

 
A crucial aspect of the Council’s Blackburn With Darwen Children’s Sufficiency 
Statement strategy is the need to ensure that local children can be accommodated in 
the local area.  This is important to enable them to maintain links with family and 

Page 49



 

10 | P a g e  
 

friends, retain medical and other support services referrals as necessary, and to 
continue attending school wherever possible.  
 
In order to ensure that new provision is available to meet the needs of local children, 
the Council will expect all applicants to enter into a Section 106 Legal Agreement 
before planning permission is granted. 
 

A legal agreement under the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act is between the 
applicant and the Council, however it also relates to the property in question i.e. it is 
the same as when planning permission is granted which relates to the land or 
property rather than a person.  This means that any successors in title would be 
equally bound by the requirements of the agreement.  The agreement would specify 
that the property in question can only be occupied on a residential basis by children 
either placed by Blackburn With Darwen Borough Council or with the written 
agreement of Blackburn With Darwen Children’s Services Department.  
 
The rationale behind this is to ensure that sufficient provision exists locally to meet 
the Council’s needs, but also to provide enough flexibility for applicants to operate on 
a viable basis.  
 
In considering placements from outside of the Blackburn With Darwen borough, the 
Council’s Children’s Services team will be mindful of the particular needs of the child 
and the nature of the service offered at the property in question. At all times the 
Council’s decision making will be driven by the best interests of the child. 
 
Blackburn With Darwen must be notified by the placing authority of any children 
placed in children’s homes 
 
The Council would be unlikely to support the placement of a child from a remote 
authority unless exceptional circumstances can be demonstrated.  For example, a 
placement may be accepted where the child needs to be removed from their local 
area for their own safeguarding and they have relatives in Blackburn With Darwen. 
 

 
It is acknowledged that the local need for children’s residential and supported 
accommodation within the borough is dynamic, and will change over time.  However, 
the local planning authority will be guided by colleagues in Children’s Services who 
will monitor the level of provision locally against the level of need that is emerging.  If 
the Council reaches a point where the new provision does not meet the strategic 
needs of the authority, applications for planning permission are likely to be refused in 
accordance with the relevant local planning policy.  As such, applicants are strongly 
recommended to contact the Council for pre-application advice prior to submitting a 
formal planning application. 
 

Page 50



 

11 | P a g e  
 

 

 
The Council offers a formal pre-application advisory service.  Applicant’s wishing to 
open a new children’s residential and supported accommodation are strongly 
advised to take advantage of this service to establish the likelihood of obtaining 
planning permission for their proposal and to understand any specific requirements 
that may be necessary. 
 
Details of this service can be found on this link: 
 
https://www.blackburn.gov.uk/planning/planning-permission-applications/planning-
permission-application-advice/pre-application  
 

 
As this document is not a supplementary planning document, and only an advice 
note, to provide clarification and information on the Council’s approach to dealing 
with applications for children’s residential and supported accommodation, no public 
consultation has been undertaken on its content. 
 

 
The adopted Core Strategy and Local Plan Part 2, have been subject to a 
sustainability appraisal.  In addition, the emerging new local plan, will be subject to a 
sustainability appraisal prior to adoption.  As such, no separate sustainability 
appraisal has been carried out for this advice note. 
 

 
Given the purpose, content and scope of this advice note, it is not considered to 
trigger a requirement for a Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA). 
 

 
Planning Service (Development Management) – planning@blackburn.gov.uk  
Children’s Services - Commissioning.team@blackburn.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 

 

Page 51

https://www.blackburn.gov.uk/planning/planning-permission-applications/planning-permission-application-advice/pre-application
https://www.blackburn.gov.uk/planning/planning-permission-applications/planning-permission-application-advice/pre-application
mailto:planning@blackburn.gov.uk
mailto:Commissioning.team@blackburn.gov.uk


Document is Restricted

Page 52

Agenda Item 6
By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 54

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 55

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 56

Agenda Item 7
By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 60

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 61

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	3 Declaration of Interest
	DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN

	 Material Considerations
	4 Planning Applications for Determination
	4.1 Planning Application 20/0784
	4.2 Planning Application 20/0828
	5 Planning Advisory Note - Approach for determining applications relating to properties being used as Children’s residential and supported accommodation.
	BwD Childrens Care Homes PAN December 2020

	6 Enforcement - Land at 25 Percival street, Darwen, BB3 1HB
	Image 10.11.2020.jpg
	Location Plan.pdf

	7 Enforcement – Land at 216/218 Shear Brow, Blackburn
	Location Plan
	Shear Brow.jpg


